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INTRODUCTION



In March 1998 the actor, Olivia Williams, was in New York having recently made the film Rushmore, alongside Bill Murray and Jason Schwartzman. Shortly before filming ended Olivia had received a text message from a friend of hers back in England.


‘Dad opens on 2 April at the Golden Theatre on West 45th St,’ the message read.


The friend was Lucy Briers, Richard’s youngest daughter. She and Olivia had studied drama together at the Bristol Old Vic and, as well as the two of them becoming close friends, their families had become close and often socialised. Olivia’s father had recently been to see Lucy in The Rivals at the Nottingham Playhouse and the message went on to say that if Olivia was still in New York when he opened, Richard hoped that she would do the same. All she had to do was inform Lucy how many tickets she wanted, and when she wanted to go.


The play in question was The Chairs by Eugène Ionesco, an absurdist comedy from 1952 that also starred Geraldine McEwan. As well as a sell-out tour, it had already enjoyed a successful run in London’s West End, and the producers and stars alike were all thrilled at the prospect of taking it across the pond.


As she planned to still be in town, Olivia accepted the offer of tickets and requested two. All she had to do now was find somebody to accompany her. The obvious choice was her co-star and host in New York, Bill Murray. She had been staying with him and his family Upstate and thought it would be an ideal way to say thank you. In hindsight, this might not have been a good idea. Ionesco, it’s safe to say, isn’t everyone’s cup of tea and she wasn’t quite sure of Bill’s taste in absurdist theatre. The moment Murray accepted her invitation Olivia began catastrophising about what could go wrong. She now admits that she was still going through her, ‘Hey, wouldn’t it be great if . . .’ period, where questionable ideas would be vocalised without any thought of the consequences.


The fact that the play, and, in particular, Richard, received unanimously favourable reviews in New York, just as they had in England, failed to dissipate Olivia’s sense of foreboding. When she and Murray arrived at the John Golden Theatre she had no idea what to expect.


On curtain up Murray had been quiet and impassive but, despite her fears, Olivia still managed to focus most of her attentions on the play. She too was thrilled by the production and agreed with the magazine, Variety, which had said, ‘There’s a lot of fussing about seats in “The Chairs,” [a reference to the set] the revival of Eugène Ionesco’s 1952 absurdist landmark, but the true fuss is likely to take place at the box office once word spreads about Richard Briers’ performance.’


Once or twice Olivia sneaked a glance at her famous guest to see if he was laughing, restless, intrigued or sleeping, but he remained entirely inscrutable, watching, but barely moving. He was giving nothing away.


As you would expect, Olivia had planned to visit Richard in his dressing room after the show. She was aware that he hated being away from home, so a familiar face with a few words of congratulation would be just what he needed. What she hadn’t bargained for, however, was the fact that she would have a famous friend in tow who may not have enjoyed the show. When Olivia suggested to Bill that they should go and see Richard, he replied with a characteristically unreadable ‘Oh, OK, we could do that’.


When, finally, they reached Richard’s dressing room, Olivia was still nervous. She could already hear Richard’s voice from the other side of the door and he sounded his usual cheerful self. Whether Murray had enjoyed the show or not, it was going to be a bizarre pairing and no mistake. The Good Life meets Ghostbusters.


Buoyed somewhat by hearing Richard’s voice, Olivia knocked on his door and a second or so later the door was flung open and there, in his dressing gown, was Richard. All smiles, he gave her the standard Dickie Briers greeting, which was delivered at a rate of knots.


‘Hello, love, how are you? Do come on in. Come on, come on, in you come, in you come. Who’s this then? Who’s your friend? Isn’t that Bill Murray? Good heavens!’


As soon as Olivia was able to get a word in she said her hellos and then cleared the way so the two actors could see each other.


‘Bill,’ said Olivia. ‘This is Richard Briers. Richard, this is Bill Murray.’


The next few seconds were going to be pivotal. Not only to Olivia’s friendship with the Briers family, which was very dear to her, but also to her accommodation for the next couple of days. As soon as she finished speaking, Bill held out a hand and proceeded to worship at the feet of the astonished Dickie, who stood there, for once, completely dumbstruck.


Thank fuck for that, Olivia thought.


Richard eventually found his words again.


‘I don’t deserve this,’ he said. ‘Good heavens, Mr Murray, please get up! I don’t know what to say. Come and sit down. It’s so lovely to meet you. I’m a huge fan, you know. Please though, you must get up!’


Since opening night, Richard and Geraldine, who had also received fantastic notices, had received a steady stream of Hollywood stars, including Meryl Streep and Al Pacino, who had come backstage to congratulate them. None had fallen to their knees though.


Despite feeling embarrassed, Richard was thrilled to bits at Murray’s gesture and over the next hour they sat on his dressing-room sofa, had a few drinks and chatted. The star of Saturday Night Live and Groundhog Day grilled Richard about rehearsing this unperformable absurdist play, after which they compared notes on playing Polonius. A year previously Richard had played Polonius in Kenneth Branagh’s film adaptation of Hamlet, a role that Murray himself had recently been offered for a new adaptation starring Ethan Hawke. The juxtaposition of these two actors was nothing less than glorious.


This, more than any other anecdote that’s been recalled during the research of this book, encapsulates the story you are about to read. It would be unwise to divulge the reasons why, as you might not read on. Suffice to say that the elements that make up Olivia’s story – friendship, generosity, loyalty, travel anxiety, unease, concern, theatres, film stars, anticipation, reviews, swear words and alcohol – are prevalent throughout. What makes her anecdote especially pertinent, however, is that it proves, in the most amusing way, that anyone who had Richard Briers down as being a middle-class sitcom actor who drank tea, enjoyed gardening and went on daytrips to Eastbourne with Dame Thora Hird should reconsider their supposition immediately. After all, there aren’t many sitcom actors who have appeared on Broadway, been nominated for a Tony Award and who have been worshipped – literally – by Bill Murray.





CHAPTER ONE



‘That’s not my baby!’


Richard David Briers was born on 14 January 1934 in Nelson Hospital in Merton, south-west London. His mother, Morna Phyllis (née Richardson), endured a difficult labour and after finally giving birth to Richard, he was immediately taken away so that she could rest. When Morna awoke a few hours later she asked a nurse if she could at last see her newborn baby.


‘Certainly,’ said the nurse. ‘I’ll fetch him now.’


After about ten minutes the nurse hadn’t returned and Morna was becoming anxious. She was about to ask what on earth was going on when suddenly the nurse appeared carrying a tiny baby.


‘He’s absolutely beautiful,’ said the nurse as she arrived at the side of the bed. ‘Your husband has called, by the way. He’ll be here in about an hour.’


As the nurse went to hand Morna her bundle of joy she instinctively held out her arms. The labour had lasted a good eight hours – ‘eight hours’ hard labour’, she later called it – and to finally see the fruit of said labour was already becoming an emotional experience.


‘There we are,’ said the nurse as Morna took the baby. ‘Remember to support his head.’


As the nurse was speaking Morna took a first look at her newborn child, and let out a piercing scream.


‘What on earth’s wrong?’ said the nurse.


‘That’s not my baby!’ yelled Morna. ‘That’s not my baby!’


‘Now now, Mrs Briers,’ cooed the nurse. ‘Of course he’s your baby. Look at him. Isn’t he gorgeous? He’s definitely got your eyes. Don’t you worry. You’re just a little bit emotional. Most mothers are at this stage.’


‘I’m telling you now,’ declared Morna, who was becoming annoyed, ‘that is not my baby. Now, would you please take him away?’


Obviously believing that Morna was having some kind of breakdown, the nurse left her with the child and ran off to consult a higher authority. She returned presently with a doctor and the sister of the maternity ward. Morna, although still cradling the unwanted child, wasted no time in repeating her concerns.


‘She’s given me the wrong baby!’ cried Morna. ‘Now would somebody please take him away from me and find my baby!’


‘Come along, Mrs Briers,’ began the doctor, in his most patronising bedside manner. ‘What on earth makes you think he isn’t yours? Remember, you have been through rather a lot today. You’re probably still a bit tired.’


‘Never mind tired,’ snapped Morna. ‘He’s got red hair. Look!’


With that Morna pulled back the blanket to reveal a sleeping newborn with a shock of bright red hair.


The doctor, who was still in full-on patronising mode, continued, ‘Come, come. There’s nothing strange about your baby having red hair, Mrs Briers. Lots of babies have red hair.’


‘Actually, doctor, there is! Neither I nor my husband have red hair. None of my family have red hair, and unless my husband has been hiding red-haired relatives from me, neither does he. I’m telling you now, this is NOT my baby.’


With that, the doctor, who was now becoming nervous, asked to have a word with the nurse and the ward sister privately. When they returned, the ward sister, who appeared even more nervous, instructed the nurse, who was terrified, to take the baby back to the hospital nursery.


‘What’s happening?’ asked Morna. ‘Has anything happened to my baby?’


Without giving her an answer, the ward sister followed the nurse and a few minutes later the same nurse appeared, carrying a different bundle of joy.


‘I’m so sorry,’ she said, handing the bundle to Morna. ‘It’s never happened before. How can you ever forgive me?’


Uninterested in recriminations, Morna simply smiled at the nurse and gratefully took the bundle from her.


‘That’s my baby!’ she cried once she had set eyes on him. ‘Thank you, nurse. Thank you!’


Years later Richard claimed, quite legitimately, that he must have been the world’s youngest ever farceur. Well, he and the red-haired imposter.


When Richard’s father, Joseph Benjamin – or Joe, to all who knew him – came to collect Morna and Richard, the address to which he took them back was a one-bedroom flat at 12 Thornton Hill, Wimbledon. These days the road is chock-ablock full of millionaires, but in 1934 it was anything but and, although it wasn’t a poor area exactly, it was a far cry from that to which his mother had been accustomed.


Morna, who was five feet tall, had blue eyes, long fair hair and, according to Richard’s younger sister Jane, was feminine but feisty. She had been born in 1913 in the Indian city of Allahabad in the province of Uttar Pradesh, as had Morna’s mother, Lillian. Morna’s father, Frederick, had moved to Allahabad from London at the end of the nineteenth century and had carved out a successful career as a civil servant. As well as owning a large six-bedroom house with an acre or so of garden, the family had several servants and they enjoyed a rich and varied social life.


It seems that the acting gene, certainly with regards to the Richardson side of the family, might well have been passed down to Richard from Morna’s father, Frederick – or Fred, as he was usually known.


‘The operas of Gilbert and Sullivan were very, very popular back then,’ says Richard’s sister Jane, who must also have caught the gene as she too has spent her entire adult life as an actor. ‘And my grandfather Fred, and my grandmother, come to think of it, were absolutely wild about them. They all were.’


Amateur dramatics was absolutely huge during the Raj, and because of their popularity the works of Gilbert and Sullivan were much performed. Not always very well, according to some sources, but what the actors lacked in talent they more than made up for in enthusiasm.


‘Fred was actually quite good,’ says Jane. ‘And he specialised in playing the comedy character roles. It’s all he did outside of work. He was obsessed!’


In the Allahabad Saturday Gazette, dated 11 February 1922, an extensive two-page review appeared for a performance of Gilbert and Sullivan’s The Gondoliers, which had taken place the previous Tuesday. Produced by an amateur dramatics company bearing the same name as the opera itself, it was played over three nights at the Allahabad Coral Club and attracted a combined, and it appears appreciative, audience of well over 4000 people. The review (which goes on at some length and misspells the word cast as ‘caste’) pays tribute to everyone and everything concerned, from the costumes – ‘the creation of Madame Dagmar’s artistic brain’ – to the gentlemen of the Government Carpentry School who designed and built the gondola. Not forgetting, of course, Messrs Youd et Cie, ‘the famous Calcutta hairdressers’, who supplied the wigs.


As one would expect, each member of the cast receives their own mini appraisal, including Richard and Jane’s grandfather, Fred, who played the Duke of Plaza-Toro, a popular comic baritone part. ‘Nonetheless deserving,’ says the uncredited journalist, ‘was Mr Richardson as the Duke who made an apt aristocrat, his facial contortions being at times excruciatingly funny.’


Morna too dabbled in acting – she played, among other roles, Jingles the Court Jester in a production of Zurika, the Gypsy Maid, causing, much to her father’s satisfaction, ‘considerable amusement’ – and later went on to teach drama, as did Jane. Her real talents, however, lay as a concert pianist and by the time she became a teenager she was already being tipped for a place at the Royal College of Music in London.


‘That was our mother’s passion,’ says Jane. ‘And although she wasn’t the first member of my family to be musical, she was the first who had the talent to do it professionally.’


Proof of Morna’s early promise can be found in a copy of the Naini Tal Gazette dated Thursday 23 April 1925. Inside are the results of the theoretical music examinations that had been held the previous November. They state that ‘Miss Mona [sic] Richardson, pupil of Miss L Pease, gained the Senior Exhibition Prize of nine guineas for scoring the highest marks in India at the Practical Music Examination held in the Naini Tal.’


Naturally proud of their talented daughter, Fred and Lillian Richardson eventually contacted the Royal College of Music and informed them of their daughter’s prowess. Obviously impressed, they invited her for an interview and in June 1930, having been offered a place at the college, Morna and her family relocated to London so that she could begin her studies. While at the college, Morna would be taught to play the organ by a young Malcolm Sargent and receive lectures on conducting from a slightly older Adrian Boult.


By the time Morna and her family had arrived at Southampton docks, her future husband Joe had already been married a year, had a young son and was working as an estate agent’s clerk in Harrow.


Born in 1907, Joe’s family had been tenant farmers in Middlesex for much of the nineteenth century although his own father, Ben, had taken against agriculture from an early age and managed to plough his own furrow by making a career in finance. Compared to Morna, Joe’s childhood had been fairly unremarkable and, as opposed to continuing his education after leaving school or at least following a particular ambition, he had simply flitted from job to job while suffering from an acutely short attention span.


In 1926 he had married a local girl called Vivienne Knott and in 1929 she had given birth to a son called Francis George. Other than that, little is known about Joe’s early life or about his first marriage. Indeed, according to Jane, their father wasn’t keen on discussing the past, full stop – ‘Very few people were from that generation,’ says Jane – and when Richard eventually contacted Francis, who then went by the name of Gordon, sometime in the 1960s, they developed a cordial relationship but were never close.


One thing Joe did have in common with Morna was a love of music and a talent for performing, although his ability was probably more aligned to that of her parents than it was hers. That said, Joe attended classes at the Guildhall School of Music occasionally and, by all accounts, he was a gifted singer. Subsequently, to supplement his sometimes erratic income, Joe would often perform with a pianist at masonic events and other gatherings in the City of London. While at the Royal College of Music, which she attended from 1930 to 1933, Morna would also earn a few extra pounds by performing at such events and, sometime in 1932, she received an urgent enquiry from a singer by the name of Joseph Briers. His usual pianist was ill, and he wondered if she could fill in for him at an event he had booked in the City of London. Morna accepted without hesitation and six months later Joe had left Vivienne and had set up home with Morna. Joe’s relationship with Vivienne had been on the decline since Francis’s birth and there was little outcry from their families at the separation as it was generally accepted as being a fait accompli.


Not that this made much of a difference to Joe and Morna’s new life together. With a young child and a soon-to-be ex-wife to support, not to mention a propensity to move from job to job, Joe had even less money than usual and when Morna discovered that she was pregnant in the spring of 1933, it’s fair to say that there were mixed feelings at 12 Thornton Hill. Morna, who was about to leave the Royal College of Music, had, according to one of her tutors, a potentially brilliant career as a concert pianist ahead of her and although the new arrival wouldn’t necessarily prevent her from working, it would certainly make a difference. Fortunately for the expectant couple, Morna’s parents were thrilled at the news of the pregnancy and offered to help them physically, as in babysitting, and financially. Fred and Lillian Richardson certainly weren’t wealthy, not by any means, and for several years they had been living in slightly reduced circumstances in India. This had continued after their relocation, but they were still able to relieve some of the pressure from their daughter’s young shoulders, and their joy at the occasion of the birth was palpable.


By the time Richard arrived his father was working as a bookmaker; something he enjoyed and was apparently rather good at. Joe, who was tall and had green eyes and dark brown hair, was quite a gregarious character, which helped to oil the wheels in many of the jobs he took. Conversely, he was also prone to bouts of nervousness and this is something he most definitely passed on to his new son.


‘He was a good sort, but his attitude was “live for today”,’ Richard said in 2010. ‘He was a bookmaker most of his life, but he never saved. He wanted to be popular in the pub, which he was. He was a rolling stone who liked life to be pleasant, but money was always short.’


The nervous energy that Richard inherited from his father manifested itself via the speed at which he spoke; something he eventually managed to turn to his advantage.


‘He was five when I was born in 1939,’ says Jane, ‘and that’s one of the first things I remember. He could talk incredibly fast.’


It appears that the source of all this nervousness was actually Joe’s father.


‘My paternal grandfather was a stockbroker with a very big personality,’ remembered Richard. ‘He was six-feet-two-inches, eighteen stone and quite overpowering and my father was frightened of him. He was always being told off as a boy and it gave him a complex that he wasn’t really very good at anything, which was a shame.’


By the time Jane arrived the Briers family had moved from Wimbledon into a block of flats called Pepys Court just up the road in Raynes Park.


‘The fact that the block was completely white didn’t improve our chances much when London was being bombed,’ remembers Jane. ‘In fact, we seemed to spend our entire lives in the entrance hall. That’s where we all congregated if there was an air raid, although I have no idea why.’





CHAPTER TWO



A Talent to Amuse


The first four years of Richard’s life were spent either in the care of his mother, who had worked steadily since Richard was born and was gaining a fine reputation as a pianist, or with her parents, who lived in Wimbledon. As the Richardsons’ first grandchild he was doted on and it was a sad day when they finally had to hand him over to the education system. Unfortunately for Morna, she wasn’t able to utilise all the spare time she had once Richard had gone to school: after the war effort had taken hold, many orchestras, which were obviously affected by financial constraints and by conscription, had to close or at least take an indefinite sabbatical.


‘I’m afraid that the war completely put paid to her career,’ says Jane. ‘She did find some work, but they were sporadic jobs for money as opposed to actual positions in orchestras. She wasn’t the only one, of course. The war changed everything for everyone.’


For the young Richard, who from September 1938 attended Rokeby Preparatory School in Kingston upon Thames, the war presented two opportunities: collecting ironmongery, which he did from the ammunitions dump down the road from Pepys Court, and impersonating an Austrian-born homicidal maniac. Jane remembers Morna telling her about the allure of the ammunitions dump.


‘According to her, Richard used to collect everything from that dump. He was fascinated by it and would arrive home with dead bullets, shells and pieces of shrapnel. I think all boys were into that.’


The impersonations are something that Jane remembers first hand.


‘I’d have been about three or four at the time, but I remember Richard standing on a large bin one day while some children gathered around him. All of a sudden, he started shouting in a funny accent and waving one of his arms in the air. He carried on doing this for some time and I eventually realised he was impersonating Hitler!’


Richard’s performance went down a storm with the children of Raynes Park and ‘Briers does Hitler’ became a long-running hit.


‘We all used to fall about laughing,’ remembers Jane. ‘And the more we laughed, the longer he went on. He was far more engaging than the odious little man he was impersonating.’


Not surprisingly, Richard’s passion for making people laugh wasn’t always left at the school gates and it had been getting him into trouble right from day one.


‘When our mother went to collect him from school on his first day she saw through the windows a child sitting at his desk outside the classroom. The desks and chairs, which were adjoined, had wheels on the bottom which meant that if a child was misbehaving they could be wheeled into the corridor.’


On closer inspection, Morna realised that the child who had been banished to the corridor was none other than Richard, and when she spoke to the woman who had wheeled him there, a teacher called Kate Walton-Smith, and asked her what his crime had been, she simply smiled at Morna and gave her a knowing but slightly frustrated look.


‘It appears we have a bit of an entertainer on our hands here, Mrs Briers,’ said the exasperated educator. ‘He’s very good at impressions, I’ll give him that. His attention span needs work, however.’


Funnily enough, Richard’s underdeveloped attention span had recently started becoming an issue at home too as it interfered with one of his chores.


‘Mother had started sending Richard down to the shops whenever she needed something,’ says Jane. ‘And, after giving him the money and telling him what she wanted, off he’d trot. Fifteen minutes later he’d wander back in and when Mother asked him where the shopping was he’d say, “Oh, sorry, I forgot.” He never changed really and our poor mother used to tear her hair out.’


Kate Walton-Smith had been teaching at Rokeby for over a decade when Richard arrived and, during that time, she had needed to cope with all kinds of testing behaviour.


Richard’s older daughter Kate remembers Miss Walton-Smith explaining why she used to wheel her father into the corridor, and it wasn’t quite the reason one might expect.


‘Kate Walton-Smith had a real soft spot for Dad and they kept in touch until the day she died. We used to go to her house sometimes for tea and quite often the conversation would veer on to Dad’s behaviour at school. Apparently, the main reason for her wheeling him into the corridor wasn’t just because he was making his classmates laugh, it was because he made her laugh, so he actually managed to distract his own teacher! I think the attention span also played a part, or lack of, but I think the fact that his teacher had to remove him because he was making her laugh is wonderful.’


About three years later, which is when Jane remembers accompanying Morna on the school run, the situation hadn’t changed.


‘It didn’t happen every time we picked him up,’ says Jane, ‘but I’d say he was in the corridor at least a third of the time. Mother used to go spare, but it didn’t make any difference. We thought it was because he was being naughty.’


Richard later confirmed that he had no interest in school whatsoever and, when he wasn’t trying to make his teachers or his fellow pupils laugh to relieve the boredom, he was simply daydreaming.


‘It’s not that Richard didn’t want to learn,’ says Jane. ‘He just wanted to learn about subjects that interested him. In that respect he became a great self-educator. In fact, my one abiding memory of my brother is seeing him in the corner of our living room reading a book. He was always a voracious little reader.’


But there was another reason why the young Richard Briers wasted little time in becoming the class comedian, and it was all to do with self-preservation.


‘According to Dad there were quite a lot of bullies at his school,’ says Lucy. ‘And early on I think he was picked on quite a bit.’


Although he was never short for his age, Richard was terribly thin as a child and as well as being, as he put it, ‘a little bit of a softie,’ he had absolutely no time for sports. He had realised soon after starting school that this rendered him as bully fodder and it seemed the only way of deterring the potential perpetrators was by impersonating the Führer and playing everything for laughs.


‘Unfortunately, I think this merely intensified all that natural nervous energy he had,’ says Kate. ‘And because he was so busy making people laugh and keeping the bullies at bay he became a walking distraction; not only to those around him, but also to himself.’


At home, things were a little bit easier for Richard and by the time he was five he had already developed a keen passion for cinema.


‘I had the back bedroom at Pepys Court, which overlooked a small car park and the Rialto Cinema,’ he said in 2010. ‘I think it’s a funeral parlour now, which is a shame, but when I was in bed, I couldn’t quite decipher the dialogue, but I could hear Humphrey Bogart’s and James Cagney’s voices.’


Trips to the cinema were a common occurrence for most households back in the 1930s and Richard would go as often as he could find a sponsor.


‘I remember seeing Laurel and Hardy for the very first time,’ he said in 1982. ‘And that’s something you don’t forget in a hurry. I think I was about four or five years old and they were the first people I’d seen who I knew were being funny on purpose. It actually felt like they were being funny just for me. They taught me how to laugh.’


When he was about eight or nine years old, and after spending hours on end trying to persuade somebody – anybody – to take him to either the Rialto or one of the four other cinemas in nearby Wimbledon, his parents finally relented, and the budding film buff was allowed to go to the cinema without an adult, but there was one small condition.


‘That condition was me, I’m afraid,’ remembers Jane. ‘And until we became close when I was five or six years old, he probably saw me as a bit of a burden. In fact, I’m absolutely sure he did.’


When Jane had first arrived at Pepys Court, Richard had been fairly attentive. Until the first bath time, that is. Then, when it became clear that his parents had brought him a sister and not a brother like he had wished for, he made his feelings known.


‘Look, it hasn’t got a willy,’ he complained to his mother as she bathed Jane. ‘You’ll have to take it back right away and fetch me a new one!’


Richard’s disapproval of his new sister persisted and as time went on the ways in which he demonstrated this became more and more creative. One day, shortly after an air-raid siren had sounded, Morna was leaving Pepys Court in a hurry with Richard and Jane when she suddenly realised she had forgotten something. ‘Stay here, and I’ll be back in a minute,’ said Morna.


‘I think this is probably my earliest memory,’ says Jane, ‘as I must have been about eighteen months old. I had lots of lovely blonde curls when I was very young and when my mother disappeared back to the flat, Richard took out a small pair of scissors that he must have pinched from school and chopped them all off! The thing is, I actually remember him doing it. I didn’t mind one bit though. In fact, I think I just giggled. I thought it was fun. Mother didn’t!’


It wasn’t just Hitler’s bombs that were a danger to children during the war. Disease was rife, especially in the cities, and child mortality was still frighteningly high.


One day at school, when Richard was eight years old, he suddenly started complaining of having earache. He was never a sickly child so his teacher, Miss Walton-Smith, sent him straight to the school nurse. Within an hour Richard had also come down with a fever and, as well as feeling extremely dizzy, he could barely stand up. Fearing he may have the mumps and even the dreaded meningitis, the nurse immediately took him to the local hospital where he was examined by a doctor.


‘I’m afraid he had mastoiditis,’ remembers Jane, ‘which at that time was a major cause of child mortality in Britain. We were all desperately worried.’


Mastoiditis is a bacterial infection of the mastoid air cells that surround the inner and middle ear. Often the result of an untreated middle-ear infection, until penicillin came along it was very often fatal and even by the 1940s survival was not guaranteed.


‘Antibiotics were still being developed,’ remembers Jane, ‘and for a few days it was feared we might lose him. I was only three at the time, but I remember visiting him in hospital. Mother was in floods of tears.’


Fortunately, the antibiotics he had been prescribed gradually started having an effect and within a week or so he was back to his old self again. Much to the relief of his family, of course, and even his long-suffering teacher.


‘Miss Walton-Smith actually went to visit Richard in hospital. Isn’t that nice? I know he could drive her crazy sometimes but there was obviously a bond between them.’





CHAPTER THREE



‘If this attitude persists, one of us will have to leave.’


Growing up in London during the Second World War was obviously a different experience for children than it was for adults, providing they were not personally affected. Not surprisingly, some children found air aids and the like quite exciting and it was only when an explosion was actually felt that emotions such as fear made an appearance.


‘Richard and I only experienced fear very occasionally,’ remembers Jane. ‘In fact, the only time I remember us being scared during the war was when we thought my parents were. That could be quite terrifying as you felt vulnerable.’


By far the most disturbing thing Richard and Jane ever saw during the war was the look on their father’s face one evening after he had driven an ambulance to a house that had been hit by a bomb.


‘Mother worked for the ARP [Air Raid Precautions] during the war,’ says Jane, ‘as did Fred and Lillian, and Father worked for the ambulances. Until this happened I don’t think I’d realised what the consequences of war actually were. I was just too young.’


Richard went on to say something similar in an interview with the Telegraph many years later.


‘When the sirens sounded we had to run like hell down to the cement shelter under our block of flats. There’d be about forty of us down there, sometimes for hours on end, so we ended up getting very matey. It was so boring down there, particularly if you didn’t have a comic to read. I know it sounds wrong, but I was always quite glad when there was a bang outside as at least something was happening.’


Jane remembers sitting with Richard in the living room on that fateful evening when suddenly their father opened the front door.


‘As always, we ran to greet him but as we did I could see that his face was as white as a sheet. He was also on the verge of tears and the expression he wore was one of pure, unadulterated sorrow. I’d never seen anything like it before in my life. I don’t think either of us had.’


About an hour earlier, Joe and his colleague had been called to a house in Wimbledon, which had been hit by a doodlebug. On sifting through the aftermath, they had found the bodies of five small children, assumedly siblings.


‘I don’t think my father had meant for Richard and me to hear about what he’d seen, but when Mother asked him what the matter was he just told her. I remember Richard and I were devastated and after that everything changed. All of a sudden, the war felt real and from then on, the moment we heard an air-raid siren we’d cling to each other like glue. It’s funny, but before that night I don’t think either of us had ever had to worry about anything in our lives. Well, nothing really important. After that we rarely stopped worrying, at least for the duration of the war.’


For the previous year or so Joe had been working for an airfilter manufacturer called Vokes. The factory, which was based in Guildford, Surrey, had a tannoy system installed and from time to time people’s names would be called out and they would be asked to report to the manager’s office right away. It didn’t take Joe very long to realise that the reason for them being summoned was not because they were getting a promotion, or even a ticking off. It was to break the news that their families had been either killed or injured during an air raid and because of what he had seen at the bomb site, it was starting to turn an already nervous Joe into an absolute wreck. Unable to cope with the anxiety, he decided to take drastic action and within a couple of weeks he had managed to find his family some alternative accommodation in a village called Worplesdon, near Guildford.


‘We were actually sharing a house with another family,’ remembers Jane. ‘But because of his schooling, it was decided that Richard would stay behind during the week and live with our grandparents in Wimbledon. I don’t think my father was very happy, but life had to go on.’


With hindsight, and given Richard’s scholarly instincts, or lack of them, staying on in Wimbledon was something of a waste of time. Fred and Lillian, who were paying for his education, still had high hopes for their first-born grandchild and at least wanted to get their money’s worth. Richard, although happier being in Wimbledon surrounded by cinemas than he would have been in Worplesdon surrounded by sheep, still found the whole education thing a terrible bore and, unable to escape the confines of Rokeby Preparatory School from the hours of 8.45 a.m. until 3.15 p.m. (he would find that slightly easier at secondary school), he was eventually forced to branch out from just telling jokes, daydreaming and impersonating despots.


‘I’m afraid he became a kind of junior spiv,’ says Lucy. ‘It’s one of quite a few paradoxes surrounding my father as people tend to assume that as a child he was probably bright, studious, middle-class, well-behaved and politely spoken, and as an adult somebody who never swore, never smoked, drank tea, went to church and watched Songs of Praise all the time. If only they knew!’


Although it would come into its own in secondary school, Richard’s career as a wheeler and dealer started at the age of ten when, after being asked one day by several fellow pupils if they could have one of his sweets, he discovered the economic model of supply and demand: Briers has sweets – Kids want sweets – Kids give Briers money – Briers gives them sweets – Briers buys more sweets – Kids buy more sweets. By the following day Richard had procured about ten bags of assorted sweets and, during playtime and lunchtime, he sold the lot.


‘He was always the last one to eat his sweets,’ says Jane. ‘Most children would wolf them down immediately but not Richard. I remember eating mine one day after we’d each been given a bag by our grandparents and two days later – two days! – he pulled his out. I couldn’t believe it. “Can I have one?” I begged, but he just looked at me with this rather smug grin on his face. He was like a very young Bond villain!’


By the time Richard had started attending the Ridgeway School in Wimbledon in September 1945, having unfortunately failed the entrance exam for King’s College Wimbledon, he had extended his product range somewhat and in addition to assorted sweeties he was now peddling comics, including the Beano, Dandy and Hotspur, several brands of cigarette, including Woodbines and Park Drive, and even alcohol. A friend of his, whose parents owned a particularly well-occupied drinks cabinet, used to invite Richard around when his parents were out and after syphoning off a noggin or two for themselves he would then allow Richard to syphon some more and sell it at school.


‘You see what I mean about paradoxes?’ says Lucy. ‘My dad became a byword for convention and decency in the 1960s, 1970s and 1980s, yet at the age of just eleven he was selling cigarettes and alcohol to his peers!’


So prolific did Richard’s business interests become at Ridgeway School that at the end of 1947 the headmaster wrote in his annual report, ‘It would seem that Richard Briers thinks he is running the school and not me. If this attitude persists one of us will have to leave.’


Joking apart, Richard always believed that had he not become an actor he would have made a career out of petty crime.


‘The fact is, he was good at it,’ says Lucy. ‘In fact, at the time it was probably the only thing he felt he could succeed at.’


Indeed, when the television programme Minder (in which Richard later appeared in a feature-length episode called ‘An Officer and a Car Salesman’) started in the late 1970s, he commented immediately that the character of Arthur Daley, which was played by his old friend, George Cole, was actually him had he not become an actor.


‘It may sound funny, but he really wasn’t joking,’ says Lucy. ‘You see, this was before Dad had taken a serious interest in acting, and I think it was becoming addictive. He could feel himself being attracted to a ducker and diver type lifestyle.’


With money always being so scarce in the Briers household, Richard would shun any feelings of guilt and responsibility in favour of the notion that his ‘commercial interests’ were simply an antidote to being poor. Pretty soon, the antidote became a preoccupation and even when his sense of enterprise had shifted from his childhood black-market caper to the potentially fameinducing acting profession, his desire to remain solvent persisted and merely strengthened as time went on.


‘It’s fair to say it became an obsession with him,’ says Annie, Richard’s widow. ‘Ever since we met he was terrified about not having money in the bank and his work ethic reflected that. Once he’d found his niche, of course.’


When Richard wasn’t flogging things at school he was playing truant from it, and if someone ever wanted to find him during school hours when he wasn’t on the premises, there was only one place to look, and that was Raynes Park Station.


‘He used to go to the waiting room there and read P. G. Wodehouse,’ says Lucy, ‘sometimes for hours on end. Even if he had an exam to do, he’d just write his name at the top of the paper, sneak out as soon as the teacher wasn’t looking, and go straight there. It was his reading room.’


No one can remember who first introduced Richard to P. G. Wodehouse, but the celebrated Guildford-born author who had moved to America in 1946 became one of three passions that began during his early teenage years and would last the rest of his life; the other two being the American entertainer, Danny Kaye, whom he had first seen in the 1946 musical film, Wonder Man, and the Victorian actor-manager, Sir Henry Irving.


‘Even at that age Dad was quite anachronistic,’ says Lucy. ‘And he was definitely a bit of an oddball. In fact, the only thing that rescued him from drawing his pension at thirteen and walking with a stick was his love of Danny Kaye. I think the other two aged him somewhat.’


The difference between P. G. Wodehouse, Sir Henry Irving and Danny Kaye, with regards to Richard’s perusal of their work during his childhood, was that he read Wodehouse avidly, studied Irving devotedly, and impersonated Kaye badly.


‘He was so fond of Danny Kaye,’ says Jane. ‘You see, Richard couldn’t sing or dance, nor could he play an instrument. In fact, he had an absolutely terrible singing voice. That didn’t matter, though. He’d seen all the films dozens of times and as well as knowing all the words to Danny Kaye’s songs he knew all his moves and mannerisms. As long as there was one of Danny Kaye’s seventy-eight records playing on the gramophone, he was very convincing.’


Richard’s impressions of Danny Kaye always took place in the family home on either a Friday or Saturday evening. Towards the end of the war, Jane, Morna and Joe had moved back to London from Worplesdon and, with Pepys Court now re-let and with very little money coming in, they had been forced to move in with Richard, Fred and Lillian in Wimbledon. A piano was a mainstay in the Richardson home, and, after kicking off the proceedings by playing a piece by either Chopin or Mozart, Morna would then accompany young Jane as she sang a song by Shirley Temple. Third on the bill would always be Richard doing his Danny Kaye impression, after which Fred and Lillian, if they felt up to it, might sing something by Gilbert and Sullivan. Topping the bill at the ‘Briers/Richardson Front Room Theatre’ would be Morna and Joe, recreating the night they had first met back in 1932 playing, among others, the songs they had performed in the City of London.


‘Those evenings were such a treat,’ remembers Jane. ‘Mother would play Chopin and make everybody cry, and then Father would sing a ballad and do the same. We were all performers, I suppose. All six of us. Although Richard and I didn’t know it yet.’


Despite never training to be an actor, Morna had always been slightly obsessed by the acting industry and Jane believes that she, together with the aforementioned evenings and regular visits to the cinema, sparked Richard’s interest.


‘He’d actually started acting about three years previously,’ remembers Jane, ‘but that was just for fun. Our grandfather, Fred, ever the theatrical, used to make up stories based on two unnamed members of Hitler’s government who he called the Fat Man and the Thin Man. I wish I’d asked him who the characters were based on, but I’m afraid I never did.’


After Fred had finished entertaining his grandchildren, Richard and Jane would retire to her bedroom where they would improvise stories featuring these two characters, usually for hours on end.


‘We always used to do it on my bed, which meant we could push each other over,’ remembers Jane. ‘And it would usually go on either until we made too much noise or until I got hurt! After a while it would sometimes morph into us doing an impression of Laurel and Hardy, who every child in the land used to love watching at the cinema. In that respect there were probably millions of children all around the world doing exactly the same thing.’


Despite being close, Richard and Jane would often fight like cat and dog and, until she was about five years old, her older, taller and heavier brother would invariably come out on top.


‘Then, I discovered his shins!’ says Jane. ‘One day he had me up against a wall after a fight and almost by accident I kicked him right on his shin. Suddenly, he started hopping around the room like a mad thing. Got him! I thought. From that moment on I actually stood a chance. I’d discovered his Achilles shin!’


With the balance shifting slightly, Richard decided to change tack and, as well as shifting the position of his legs, he also started issuing threats.


‘Once again, he’d get me against the wall after beating me in a fight,’ says Jane. ‘But this time, he’d make sure I couldn’t reach his shins. Then, once he knew he was safe, he’d say something like, “You tell Mum and I’ll duff you up again! Got it?” To which I would reply, “I promise I won’t say anything! Let me go, let me go!” Then, the moment he let me go, I’d run to the top of the stairs and shout, “MUUUUUUUUUUUUUMMY!” His face was an absolute picture!’


Jane’s least favourite experience due to her brother’s behaviour was the night he told her there was no Father Christmas.


‘It was Christmas Eve one year and I was talking up the chimney to Father Christmas. I forget what I was saying exactly – probably asking for presents – but all of a sudden Richard walked in and said, “What on earth are you doing?” to which I replied, “I’m talking to Father Christmas, silly.” Richard then sat down and said, “Ha! There is no Father Christmas.” ’


The scene that followed Richard’s cruel revelation is one that has probably been played out in millions of households all over the world: the older, more enlightened sibling informing the younger innocent sibling that Father Christmas is actually their own father dressed up. Even so, Morna was far from happy with her son and tried desperately to reverse the situation.


‘It was no good,’ explains Jane. ‘You see, for some reason I used to believe everything Richard said. Everything! It didn’t matter what it was, if it came out of my brother’s mouth, I considered it to be gospel. That was obviously the actor in him. Even then, he was incredibly plausible.’


But Richard’s role as a typical older brother – one that rules with a rod of iron and beats up his younger siblings – was always more of a cameo part. Like most children in that situation, he was quite protective towards his sister, especially after hearing about what Joe had witnessed in Wimbledon.


‘He was never a nasty little boy,’ says Jane. ‘But after that awful night in the war we became concerned with each other’s wellbeing. In fact, I don’t think we ever stopped worrying about each other after that.’


The best example of Richard’s early concern and subsequent generosity took place shortly before the end of the war.


‘I’d lost my panda,’ says Jane. ‘It sounds awfully trivial now but at the time of me losing it I was absolutely inconsolable. I think I’d lost it somewhere on Wimbledon Common and I was so upset that my parents spent an entire day scouring every inch of the common trying to find it.’


By the following day there was still no sign of Jane’s panda and, just as she was beginning to resign herself to a life of pandaless misery and bedtime loneliness, Richard appeared.


‘I remember sitting in my bedroom the day after my parents had tried to find my little panda and I was still crying. Then, all of a sudden, Richard came in carrying his teddy bear. “This is for you,” he said, handing me the bear. “You will look after him, won’t you?” I remember looking up at him thinking, What a lovely thing to do. I was so incredibly grateful.’


As well as impersonating Laurel and Hardy and improvising situations featuring two of Hitler’s henchmen, Richard and Jane would also create news reports like the ones they had heard on the BBC Home Service. Read by the likes of John Snagge and Alvar Lidell, these would always start, ‘Here is the news, and this is John Snagge/Alvar Lidell reading it’, so as to distinguish the newsreaders from enemy propagandists. This is when Jane first noticed her brother’s extraordinary verbal delivery, something for which he later became famous – and, for a time, infamous.


‘He’d always been a quick talker,’ says Jane, ‘but not so as you’d really notice. Also, because it went with his personality – in that he always had the gift of the gab and could talk his way out of most situations – it didn’t seem that strange. It was just part of Richard. Then, when he started improvising these news reports, which seemed to come out of nowhere, it was like hearing him for the first time. He just went on, and on, and on, at a hundred miles an hour. He was like a machine gun! He’d simply sit down, pretend to shuffle some papers, and then begin. “Here is the news, and this is Richard Briers reading it. Today, the Fat Man and the Thin Man, two of Hitler’s most feared henchmen, were captured by two brave children in the west London area. Richard and Jane Briers, who live with their parents and grandparents in a nice house, intend to show these two varmints no mercy whatsoever and have asked Winston Churchill himself to come and collect them in his car.”


‘Looking back, he was incredibly creative,’ continues Jane, ‘And although we were just playing games there was obviously something there. He was incredibly talented.’


But it was Richard’s anachronistic fascination with the actor Sir Henry Irving that sparked his ambition to become an actor.


‘I forget who it was, but somebody once gave me a copy of a book about Sir Henry Irving called The Actor and His World,’ Richard said in 1997. ‘It was written by his grandson, Laurence Irving, and it was huge, about five hundred pages. It completely changed my life.’


The ‘big red book’ that was handed to Richard at the end of his first appearance on This Is Your Life in 1972 (he was the subject again in 1994) reveals that the person who thought Richard might benefit from owning a copy of Laurence Irving’s homage to his revered grandfather was a Mrs Constance McDonnell, a friend of the family who had emigrated to Australia with her family in the 1950s. So significant was her gift, even in the eyes of the producers at ITV, that she was flown over as a surprise guest.


Until reading that book, Richard had been a show-off with a quick mouth who liked films, and despite his mother’s interest in performers and performing, which Richard undoubtedly shared, that’s all it ever had been – an interest. It was Irving who brought it all to life.


Born in Somerset in 1838, the year of Queen Victoria’s coronation, Sir Henry Irving had become the first-ever theatrical knight and is credited with making the acting profession respectable. Despite passing away in 1905, his myriad achievements influenced countless twentieth-century actors including luminaries such as Sir Donald Wolfit, Sir Laurence Olivier, Dame Edith Evans and Sir John Gielgud (all of whom were early heroes of Richard’s), and they continue to do so to this day. Known as ‘The Guvnor’, Irving spent much of his career at the Lyceum Theatre in London where he built around him a talented and devoted company of artists, designers and staff. From 1878, Irving’s business manager, and the secretary and director of the Lyceum, was one Bram Stoker, later the author of Dracula, who began writing novels while working for Irving. It is widely acknowledged that Bram Stoker’s real-life inspiration for the mannerisms of Count Dracula was Irving, although he always refused to play the part despite Stoker’s many appeals.


‘What I liked was the romance of Irving’s story,’ said Richard. ‘ “The Knight from Nowhere”, is what Max Beerbohm dubbed him.’


The son of a commercial traveller, Sir Henry Irving, or John Henry Brodribb as he was christened, went to live with an aunt at the age of four and doggedly pursued his ambition to become an actor despite having a stammer.


‘He went from playing an Ugly Sister in Cinderella, to Hamlet,’ continued Richard, ‘and as a young actor he was booed off stage for having stage fright but encouraged by Samuel Johnson to overcome his fear. There was also death in the arms of his dresser, a lost unforgotten first love, a disapproving Methodist mother, a wife he never spoke to again after she scorned his art – “Are you going on making a fool of yourself like this all your life?” she said – and a tantalisingly unclear friendship with his stage partner, Ellen Terry, another of those rare names that still resound in a world of passing fame.’


Reading about Irving’s inspirational story obviously made the acting profession accessible to the young Richard Briers, but the ambition to one day follow in his hero’s footsteps, while itself probably earnest, was still only a pipe dream.


‘He was obviously just a child,’ says Lucy. ‘But what reading about Sir Henry Irving did do, apart from introducing him to Shakespeare and making him want to read about the history of theatre, was to give Dad an interest outside of selling comics and cigarettes.’


His sister Jane agrees.


‘Because of Henry Irving he suddenly started reading lots and lots of Shakespeare,’ says Jane. ‘And that’s what really hooked him. Between Sir Henry and old Bill, they gradually started diverting Richard’s attentions away from flogging things to something more exciting and worthwhile. I think they actually saved him.’


Whether or not a knowledge of what Irving had saved him from was part of Richard’s devotion, nobody’s really sure. But his commitment to the memory of the famed Victorian actor never faltered and he became a trustee of the Actors’ Benevolent Fund, which Irving helped found (Richard was also trustee of the Henry Irving Foundation), and Richard went on to have the possibly unique distinction of playing four roles that will forever be associated with the great man: Hamlet, Richard III, King Lear and Mathias in The Bells, which was one of Irving’s greatest successes at the Lyceum. Strangely enough, each of these roles was played at a very different stage of Richard’s career: one at drama school, one in rep, one as a young star with fifteen years’ experience and one as an old pro. Two were a roaring success, but two weren’t. All will be revealed.
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